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THE OWNERS 
 
In December 1931, Julian L. Hazard, a judge from Florida, purchased undeveloped  
Lot 13 of Block 1 of Tract 9835 in the Westwood Hills (now often referred to as “Little 
Holmby”) from Frank S. Porter who had owned it since 1928.  Judge Hazard 
commissioned architect P. P. Lewis to design a house for himself and his wife Aristene 
and their daughter in the popular Spanish Colonial Revival style.  The Westwood 
Mortgage Company was identified as the contractor. 
 
Julian Leslie Hazard was born on June 11, 1896 in Chicago, Illinois.  His father Henry 
was in the real estate business.  By 1918, Julian was a law student at Stetson University 
in De Land, Florida, and living with his widowed mother Lucinda, a stenographer, and 
four siblings in Tampa.  Soon after graduation, Julian made a name for himself when he 
was elected judge of one of the state’s county courts--the youngest judge then serving in 
the United States. He was re-elected and was later appointed to another court by the 
Governor before deciding to move to California.  He established a private practice on 
Wilshire Blvd. in Beverly Hills.  A onetime partner of Joseph L. Reina, Mr. Hazard 
represented a number of celebrities of his day in divorces and other personal matters, 
including actress Colleen Moore, nightclub-owner Earl Carroll, Morton Downey, George 
Jessel, director Raoul Walsh, and the Giannini family.  
 
Aristene Hazard was a native of Albion Village, New York, born Aristene Jayne Luther 
on February 6, 1904.  Her father was an automobile dealer.  She married her husband in 
1920 when she was only sixteen.  Mr. and Mrs. Hazard’s daughter, also named Aristene 
Jayne, was born in Florida around 1922.  A graduate of Beverly Hills High School, she 
was identified in the 1940 census as a “studio actress” who went by the name Jayne 
Hazard.  She was selected as one of thirteen “Baby Stars of 1940” by a group of 
Hollywood directors.  In the early 1940s, Miss Hazard appeared in several well-received 
plays in Hollywood small theaters, such as Women at Work, Back to Eden, and Money 
Girls.  Her film career appears to have been brief: she acted in Black Market Babies in 
1945 and in The Racket in 1951.  She married theater owner Lowell Jasper Thompson in 
1947 but they were divorced just two years later.  She was married and divorced at least 
two additional times. Her name did not pop up again in newspapers until the 1970s when 
she led an anti-development effort in the San Fernando Valley.  Earlier articles about 
Jayne Hazard are attached on pages 18 through 20.   
 
Julian Hazard died on October 15, 1971 in San Clemente, California at the age of 75.  No 
obituary could be found for him in the Los Angeles Times.  Additional biographical 
materials are attached on pages 16 and 17.  After her husband’s death, Mrs. Hazard re-
married, becoming Mrs. William Wasson. She passed away in Orange County on  
May 14, 1976 at the age of 72.   
 
Julian Hazard sold his Wyton Drive home in January 1935 to John A. Byerly, a retired 
lumberman. He shared his home with his wife Ethel and two live-in married servants.  
John Alphonsus Byerly was born into a farming family in East Hickory, Pennsylvania on 
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March 3, 1869.  He was educated at the Edinboro Normal School and at Allegheny 
College in Meadville.  In 1897, he married Missouri-born Lucretia Finley. They would 
have two sons: Oliver F. (born ca. 1899) and Lloyd A. (born ca. 1906).  Mr. Byerly 
married for the second time around 1917.  His new wife Ethel, born in 1879, was a native 
of Iowa.   
 
By 1910, Mr. Byerly was living in Portland, Oregon where he was employed as a shingle 
manufacturer.  By 1913, he had moved to Castle Rock, Washington, where he was 
president of the Castle Rock Bank and treasurer of the Silver Lake Railway and Lumber 
Company.  He was also involved in the Columbia Agriculture Company and the 
Columbia River Log Sealing and Grading Bureau, Inc.  He served as a director of the 
Ostrander Railway and Timber Company and the First National Bank of Kelso.  
Sometime before 1920, Mr. Byerly moved back to Portland where local directories 
identified him as a “lumber manufacturer.”  He was a member of the Elks and the 
Masons and, in Los Angeles, belonged to the Los Angeles Country Club.  Mr. Byerly 
was named Northwest Senior Golf Champion in 1933. He died on March 25, 1950 having 
just turned 81 three weeks earlier. His entry in Who’s Who on the Pacific Coast and an 
obituary from the Times are attached on pages 21 and 22.   
 
In November 1950, Edward Teller, often referred to as “the father of the H-bomb,” 
became the owner of 10571 Wyton Drive.  He evidently purchased the property in 
advance of his anticipated acceptance of a professorship at U.C.L.A. However, it is 
highly unlikely he ever moved into the house.  He found out that a number of U.C.L.A. 
faculty had refused to sign the then-required loyalty oath and had lost their jobs.  Out of 
sympathy for them, he declined the professorship and accepted a position at the 
University of California, Berkeley.  Biographical sources consulted for this report 
indicate Dr. Teller sold his longtime Chicago home and immediately bought a house in 
Berkeley, but no mention is made of the Wyton Drive property.   
 
Dr. Teller (1908-2003) was born in Budapest, Hungary.  He earned a doctorate in 
theoretical physics in 1930 from the University of Leipzig.  His academic career 
threatened by the rise of the Nazis, he emigrated to Denmark and then to the United 
States in 1935 where he became a professor of physics at George Washington University.   
In 1941, Dr. Teller was recruited to join the Manhattan Project that was to create the 
atomic bomb. He left the Los Alamos Laboratory in 1946 for a teaching position at the 
University of Chicago.  After moving to Northern California, he became the director of 
the Lawrence Livermore Laboratory, associated with U.C. Berkeley, which conducted 
thermonuclear research leading to the development of the hydrogen bomb.  While at 
Livermore, Dr. Teller also taught physics from 1953 to 1975.  After that, he became a 
senior research fellow at the Hoover Institution at Stanford.  He became friends with 
Ronald Reagan and was said to have been the inspiration for the President’s Strategic 
Defense Initiative (also known as “Star Wars”).  Dr. Teller’s lifetime staunch advocacy 
of nuclear energy and weapons and conservative political beliefs made him very 
unpopular with many in the intellectual community.  
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Additional biographical material on Dr. Teller can be found on pages 23 through 26. 
 
Title to 10571 Wyton transferred to Eaton MacLeod MacKay, a physician, in August 
1953.  Living with him was his wife Lois MacKay.  Dr. MacKay was born in Auburn, 
California on November 30, 1901.  The family moved to Chico where Eaton’s father 
worked as a high school principal. By 1920, they were living in Berkeley and the senior 
Mr. MacKay had returned to teaching high school.  Eaton MacKay graduated from 
Stanford University after which he served on the medical faculty of the school. He later 
joined the staffs of U.S.C. and the Hospital of the Rockefeller Institute for Medical 
Research in New York.  During World War II, he and another physician were hailed for 
developing a new powder drug for treating open wound infections.  After the war,  
Dr. MacKay became a nationally known physician in the fields of endocrinology, 
nutrition, and internal medicine.  He organized the Scripps Metabolic Clinic in La Jolla 
and for 21 years directed its research department.  He was also a fellow of the American 
College of Physicians.   
 
Dr. MacKay married Lois Lockhard of Nebraska in 1923.  Her father had also been a 
physician.  Mrs. MacKay (1898-1978) was active in the American Association of 
University Women and was the mother of Lois Anne (1928-1990) and Marilyn Joy 
(1931-1995).  Dr. MacKay died in Orange County at the age of 72 on October 30, 1973. 
A copy of his obituary from the Los Angeles Times is attached on page 27. 
 
Morris Colton Beckwitt, a psychiatrist, was recorded as the owner of the Wyton Drive 
property in January 1956.  Born in Poland on December 7, 1906, he immigrated with his 
family to Detroit in 1920.  (He became a naturalized citizen in 1931). After graduating 
from the University of Michigan in 1935, Dr. Beckwitt was on the staff of the County 
Hospital in Detroit.  Subsequent to moving to Los Angeles, he first set up a private 
practice in Beverly Hills and later became a professor of psychiatry at U.C.L.A.   
Dr. Beckwitt married Ellen Gottesman, an immigrant from Hungary, born on November 
30, 1911.  Her family came to the United States in 1924 and settled in Youngstown, Ohio 
where her father was a rabbi. She worked as a public school teacher until her husband 
became an established physician.  While living on Wyton Drive, Mrs. Gottesman hosted 
musicales at her home.  She died on March 25, 1993 at age 83.  Her husband survived her 
by several years, passing away at age 89 on August 15, 1996.  No obituaries could be 
found for them in the Los Angeles Times.    
 
After 22 years of Beckwitt family ownership, the property was sold in March 1978 to 
Michael M. and Cyndia S. Wheeler. Mr. Wheeler was a Realtor and served as a director 
on the Los Angeles Board of Realtors in the 1980s.  Mr. and Mrs. Wheeler later moved to 
Pasadena. 
 
In July 1980, well-known screenwriter Robert Towne purchased the property along with 
his then-wife Julie.  Born Robert Bertram Schwartz in Los Angeles in 1934, Mr. Towne 
grew up in San Pedro where his father, who changed the family name to Towne, owned a 
dress shop. The senior Mr. Towne later entered the real estate field and moved his family 
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to Rolling Hills where Robert attended the Chadwick School.  He would graduate from 
Pomona College.  His first wife, actress Julie Payne, was the daughter of actor John 
Payne.  They would divorce in 1981. 
 
Mr. Towne was the author of many notable film scripts, including The Godfather (1972), 
Chinatown (1974), for which he received an Academy Award, Reds (1981), The Two 
Jakes (1990), and the first two Mission Impossible films.  Besides Chinatown three other 
screenplays were nominated for Academy Awards:  The Last Detail (1973), Shampoo 
(1975), and The Legend of Tarzan, Lord of the Apes (1984).  Mr. Towne also served as 
writer-director on several films, including Personal Best (1982) and Without Limits 
(1988).  His television credits include episodes of The Lloyd Bridges Show, The Man 
from UNCLE, and Mad Men.  A summary article of Mr. Towne’s career is attached on 
pages 28 through 30.   
 
Richard B. and Valerie M. Aronsohn gained title in November 1983.  Dr. Aronsohn 
(1926-2012) was a well-known cosmetic surgeon, or “beauty surgeon” as he preferred to 
call himself.  A specialist in cosmetic surgery since the 1950s, he had many celebrity 
clients and was a frequent speaker at women’s clubs and at international conferences. He 
also wrote several books on the subject.  Dr. Aronsohn served as president of the Board 
of Cosmetic Surgery in the 1980s. His first wife Joyce won the “Mrs. California” pageant 
in 1959.   
 
In January 2011 Jack D. Fine, an attorney, became the owner. 
 
Wyton Drive LLC has been the owner since December 2013. 
 
 
THE ARCHITECT 
 
Little is known about the early life of architect Percy Parke Lewis, or P. P. Lewis as he 
preferred to be known professionally.  Born on August 12, 1885 in Pennsylvania, he was 
living in Waterbury, Connecticut with his widowed mother by 1900.  By the age of 25, 
Mr. Lewis was back in Pennsylvania, working as an architectural draftsman in Wilkes-
Barre.  He married his wife, the former Ruth Hoffer, in 1909 when she was just nineteen.  
Mr. Lewis may not have had any formal academic architectural training.  In those days, 
many designers gained their education by working in apprentice positions as draftsmen in 
prominent architectural firms. 
 
Mr. Lewis first appeared in Los Angeles directories in the late 1920s, although he had 
been granted a certificate to practice architecture in California as early as May 1924.  
When in Los Angeles, he lived with his wife at 1024 Burnside Avenue, where he 
evidently maintained a private practice.  In 1928, he was a charter member of the newly 
organized Certified Architects Association of Beverly Hills.  He was a 32nd degree Mason 
and a member of the Beverly Hills Shrine Club.  He also belonged to the Beverly Hills 
Kiwanis Club.  By the early 1930s, Mr. Lewis had an office in Westwood at 1063 
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Westwood Boulevard.  By 1938, he had moved to Room 208 of the Chapman Building at 
10929 Weyburn Avenue in West Los Angeles.   
 
Perhaps Mr. Lewis’ most well-known designs are located in Westwood where, between 
1929 and 1939, he produced plans for single-family and multiple-family residences, 
churches, and commercial structures.  Belying the general depression that hit the 
construction industry in the 1930s, the Janss Investment Corporation and the Westwood 
Mortgage and Investment Company hired a number of architects, including Mr. Lewis, to 
contribute to the growing skyline of Westwood Village and environs during those years.   
Among Mr. Lewis’ works at that time for these firms and for some private clients: the 
John L. Robertson residence in the Tudor style on Thayer Avenue and the sprawling 
Spanish Revival home at 474 North Faring Drive (both 1929); the Francisca Apartments 
on Tiverton Avenue, which “embraced the new central patio feature” (1930); an 
apartment house for Ella Brown with an Andalusian courtyard (1930); the massive 
Redman Storage Warehouse Company building at the corner of Gayley and Kinross 
Avenues (1930); the landmark Bullock’s-Westwood store at Weyburn and Westwood 
Boulevard (1932); a medical building at 1618 Westwood Boulevard (1934); a planned 
three-story, fifty-room hotel at the northwest corner of Wilshire Boulevard and Gayley 
Avenue (1936); the Sears-Roebuck store at 1101-1100 Westwood Boulevard, its 
Mediterranean tower a visible landmark in the Village (1936; expanded 1939); the 
Pfeiffer apartment building in the French Colonial style on Wilshire Boulevard at 
Malcolm Avenue (1936); the Gerstad residence at 5051 Havenhurst Avenue (1936); and 
the Goff Building at 10991 Roebling Avenue (1937).  
 
In the mid-1930s, Mr. Lewis designed at least five model residences for the Janss 
Company near the new U.C.L.A. campus.  These included a French-Normandy on 
Thayer Avenue, supposedly inspired by ideas gathered from the firm’s sales staff and 
women clients; an English-style on Tilden avenue with sweeping gables, leaded-glass 
windows, and massive stone and brick effects; another English on Montana Avenue 
featuring a living room with a massive hammer-head beam ceiling and inglenook 
fireplace; a Spanish-style on Comstock Avenue built at a cost of $23,000; and yet another 
English-style at 235 Brownwood Avenue, “artistically arranged” on its lot.   
 
Undoubtedly, the greatest Lewis-designed landmark in Westwood is the 1,500-seat Fox 
Westwood Village Theatre, built at a cost of over $300,000 at 961 Broxton Avenue in 
1931.  A Spanish Colonial Revival/Moderne mix, the theatre’s tower, with its Art Deco 
metal patterns, is recognized today as an important part of the community’s surviving 
architectural fabric.  
          
Other documented Lewis-designed structures in the Los Angeles area include: the Janss 
Investment Company building at 508 North Western Avenue (1928)–in the Byzantine 
style; the N. G. Nelson residence at 1947 North Oxford Avenue (1933); a large apartment 
building in the French Chateau style on Wilshire Boulevard between Beverly Glen and 
the Los Angeles Country Club, built for $75,000 (1935);  a Colonial-inspired home for 
Lela Rogers, the mother of actress Ginger Rogers, at 1605 Gilcrest Drive in Beverly 
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Crest (1935)–the walls of each of its four wings faced with different materials: stone, 
shakes, board siding, and plaster; the Mediterranean-style Dorothy Kemp house at 2427 
Chislehurst Drive in Los Feliz and the Albert Sweny residence at 780 Amalfi Drive, 
Pacific Palisades–a Tudor Revival (both 1936); the J. J. Baker residence at 243 
Bronwood Avenue in Brentwood and the Eisenhaver house at 1038 Manning Avenue 
(both 1937); an office building for Allan Jones at 238-244 North Canon Drive in Beverly 
Hills (1940); and Building #3 of the Corinne Griffiths complex at the southwest corner of 
Beverly Drive and Charleville Boulevard, also in Beverly Hills (1941). 
 
Among the churches designed by Mr. Lewis: the Twenty-eighth Church of Christ 
Scientist in West Los Angeles at the corner of Hilgard and Lindbrook, “to embody 
hospitable charm and dignity” (1934); the 1,200-seat First Church of Christ Scientist at 
142 South Rexford Drive in Beverly Hills (1937); St. Alban’s Episcopal Church at 580 
South Hilgard Avenue in Westwood (1940)–a Romanesque structure described by 
architectural historians Gebhard and Winter as employing “a strong and vigorous 
traditional imagery;” and the New England-inspired First Church of Christ Scientist of 
Altadena at 942 East Altadena Drive in Altadena (1949). 
 
According to a 1939 article in the Los Angeles Times, Mr. Lewis’ residential designs 
were known for their ease of circulation; plenty of windows for light, air, and views; 
generous storage areas; sufficient wall space allowing for flexible furniture placement; 
comfortable and cheery living rooms; and convenient kitchens. 
   
Percy Parke Lewis retired around 1951.  He died on February 9, 1962 at the age of 76.  A 
brief obituary was published in the Los Angeles Times and is attached on page 33. He was 
survived by his wife and two sons, Paul and Carrington (who also became an architect 
and worked with his father until 1948.)  
 
 
THE ARCHITECTURAL STYLE 
 
One of the greatest influences on American domestic architecture, particularly in the 
Pacific Southwest, has been the Spanish Revival.  In the New World, Spanish colonists 
blended the adobe building traditions of the Native Americans with similar Spanish 
housing traditions originally brought to Spain from North Africa.  Often, both the 
Spanish Colonial style and the Pueblo Revival style use real or pseudo-adobe 
construction techniques which show this mixing of Spanish and Native American 
precedents.  Spanish Colonial ecclesiastical buildings of the American Southwest 
provided the inspiration for the Mission Style (1890-1920).  This was followed by the 
Spanish Revival style (beginning about 1915), which broadened the precedents to include 
the entire spectrum of Spanish and Spanish-American architecture, thus making it an 
unusually varied style.  Some Spanish Revival houses have elaborate decorative detailing 
patterned after formal Spanish Renaissance buildings.  Others show Moorish and Islamic 
influences, while still others, such as those of the Andalusian and Majorcan sub-styles, 
are based upon rural Spanish folk houses.  The most recent style to emerge in the Spanish 
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tradition is the Monterey Revival style (1925-1955), which is loosely based on certain 
houses of the American Southwest that show a mix of Spanish and English Colonial 
influences.   
 
Spanish Revival houses are typically identified by low-pitched roofs, usually with little or 
no eave overhang, red-tile roof coverings, one or more prominent arches placed above a 
door or a principal window or beneath a porch roof, wall surfaces of stucco, and 
asymmetrical facades.   The style uses decorative details borrowed from the entire history 
of Spanish architecture.  These may be of Moorish, Byzantine, Gothic, or Renaissance 
inspiration, an unusually rich and varied series of decorative precedents.  The typical roof 
tiles are of two basic types: Mission tiles, which are shaped like half-cylinders, and 
Spanish tiles, which have an S-curve shape.  Both types occur in many variations 
depending on the size of the tiles and the patterns in which they are applied.  
Dramatically carved doors are typical of Spanish architecture; these are more common on 
high-style Spanish Revival houses, but also occur on modest examples.  Doors are 
usually emphasized by adjacent spiral columns, pilasters, carved stonework, or patterned 
tiles.  Less elaborate entrance doors of heavy wood panels, sometimes arched above, are 
also common.  Doors leading to exterior gardens, patios and balconies are usually paired 
and glazed with multiple panes of rectangular glass.   
 
Many examples of Spanish Revival architecture have at least one large focal window.  
These are commonly of triple-arched or parabolic shape and may be filled with leaded 
and stained glass or may be dotted with stained-glass inserts of varying design.  
Decorative window grilles of wood or iron are common, as are similar balustrades on 
cantilevered balconies, which occur in a variety of shapes and sizes.  Other typical details 
include tile-roofed (and otherwise decorated) chimney tops; brick or tile vents; fountains; 
arcaded tiled walkways (usually leading to a rear garden); and round or square towers. 
 
Domestic buildings of Spanish precedent built before about 1920 are generally free 
adaptations in the Mission style.  It was not until the Panama-California Exposition held 
in San Diego in 1915, that precise imitation of more elaborate Spanish prototypes 
received wide attention.  The Exposition was designed by Bertram Grosvenor Goodhue, 
who had previously authored a detailed study of Spanish Colonial architecture.  Goodhue 
wanted to go beyond the then prevalent Mission interpretations and emphasize the 
richness of Spanish precedents found throughout Latin America.  Inspired by the wide 
publicity given the Exposition, other fashionable architects soon began to look directly to 
Spain for source material.  There they found a still longer and richer sequence of 
architectural traditions which became melded into a style that they continued to call the 
Spanish Colonial Revival, or sometimes just Spanish Revival.  
 
Southern California Mediterranean styles during the 1920s were also greatly influenced 
by the growing motion picture industry.  Movie-goers became used to seeing texture, 
detail, and the interplay of light and shadows, which is so typical of Mediterranean 
houses.  Audiences were also exposed to international styles through the movie sets,  
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which often used motifs to emblematize a given country or era.  These motifs were later 
picked up by architects in period revival styles of all kinds.   
 
The two most common sub-styles upon which truly Spanish-derived revival architecture 
was based were the Majorcan and Andalusian.  Majorcan houses tend to be a bit more 
formal in their layout and landscaping.  Wrought-iron in window grilles and hand-rails is 
preferred over turned wood.  The dwelling is usually oriented to the street by entry patios 
that are often walled. There may be second-floor balconies or loggias along the front 
elevation, often supported by arches resting on low heavy columns.  Andalusian houses, 
on the other hand, often literally turn their back on the street, the activity of the household 
directed toward an interior tiled patio, often with a fountain at its center.  The front 
elevation may be mostly blank wall with window openings and masses of decoration 
placed here and there in a seemingly random arrangement.  Other characteristics of 
Andalusian-influenced houses include a noticeable asymmetrical layout, a much greater 
use of wood trim and shutters, and informal, less obviously planned landscaping.  The 
farm-house variant of the Andalusian sub-style is even more plain, resembling the look of 
California missions.   
 
However, one should not spend a lot of time trying to define what sub-style a design best 
fits.  According to architectural historian Merry Ovnick, these distinctions are very 
subjective and “most builders were just grabbing a good-sounding label with no concept 
of what it signified.”  Although Spanish Colonial architecture in the early 1920s tended to 
be “textbook” (that is, based on the “authentic” styles that architects observed on their 
“grand tours” of Europe or on the photogravure images they studied at home), by the later 
1920s, even the more “scholarly” architects, such as John Byers, George Washington 
Smith, and the Davis brothers “took great liberties” and often produced very eclectic 
designs.  Just before the Depression killed the movement, pioneer architects such as 
Wallace Neff, Reginald Johnson, and Roland Coate were all looking for an indigenous 
California architecture that would consciously blend a number of Mediterranean ideas.  If 
a sub-style label must be applied to a building, it is best to call it by whatever term the 
architect or real estate promoter used and leave it at that.    
 
The Spanish Colonial Revival style reached its first apex during the 1920s and early 
1930s and passed rapidly from favor during the 1940s.  It emerged again during the 
1970s, when the public’s fascination with the “California Ranch” style began to run its 
course.  Spanish Revival was once again the style of choice for many subdivisions in the 
1980s and 1990s.  
 
Spanish Revival is most common in the southwestern states, particularly California, 
Arizona, and Texas, and in Florida, all regions where original Spanish Colonial building 
occurred and continued into the 19th century.  Landmark houses in this style are rare 
outside of Florida and the Southwest but, as in the related Mission style which preceded 
it, scattered vernacular examples are found in suburban developments throughout the 
country.  During the 1920s, many new communities in Florida and Southern California  
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were planned in the Spanish Revival style, and older towns (such as Santa Barbara) 
sought to affect a Spanish Colonial image.  
 
Perhaps no single style has epitomized the romanticized heritage of Southern California 
so much as has the Spanish Revival.  Especially during the 1920s, newcomers to the 
Golden State were enchanted by tales of the missions and the supposedly idealistic 
lifestyles of the early Californios.  What made the architecture equally attractive was the 
fact it was ideally suited to the Mediterranean climate, with its thick, white reflective 
walls, tile roofs, small windows, and overhanging eaves. 
 
Note: Some of the information above is based on material found in A Field Guide to 
American Houses by Virginia and Lee McAlester (New York, Knopf, 1984). 
 
The Judge Julian Hazard house is a good example of the Spanish Colonial Revival style 
with its asymmetrical layout, white roughly plastered walls, gabled cut-up tile roof, 
multi-paned casement windows, wrought-iron grillwork and light fixtures, solid wood 
front door with steel bands and studs, cast-stone quoining, open-air loggias, and 
whimsical chimneys with cupola tops.   
 
 
THE HOUSE AND PROPERTY IN THE PUBLIC RECORD 
 
On January 16, 1932, the City of Los Angeles issued building permit #935 for the 
construction of a two-story, ten-room residence and garage.  The house, to measure 
approximately 31.5 by 99 feet with a maximum height of 24 feet, would have a concrete 
foundation, wood-frame walls covered in stucco, a tiled roof, and brick chimneys.  The 
cost of construction was estimated at $11,000—a substantial amount for a new house 
during the Great Depression. 
 
A permit was issued in February 1947 to install a home elevator.   
 
The house was sandblasted in July 1954.   
 
A permit was issued in March 1962 to construct a 13.5-by-21-foot screened patio with a 
6-by-6.75-foot sliding glass door.  Lifetime Awning was the contractor.  The cost was 
estimated at $1,000.   
 
A chimney was repaired in April 2014 for $3,900.  Fireplace Freddie, Inc., of Los 
Angeles was the contractor. 
 
Permission was given in May 2014 to remodel the house and expand the first floor by 
332 square feet and the second floor by 162 square feet at a cost of $300,000.  The owner 
was to act as his own contractor.  This permit was supplemented the following September 
to increase the scope of work to include a closet and bathroom addition on the second 
floor.  The added cost was $20,000.  
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The house was to be seismically retrofitted for $2,000, according to a permit issued in 
June 2014.  Sill plate anchor bolts and a cripple wall were to be added. The contractor 
was EGX, Inc., of Los Angeles. 
 
A permit to construct a swimming pool was issued in September 2014. 
 
Copies of some of these permits can be found on pages 34 through 44. 
 
(Note: Permits for very minor alterations, such as water heater replacement, are not 
included.  Also not included are permits missing from the file or whose microfilmed or 
digital copies are indecipherable and not otherwise recorded or described in Assessor’s 
records.)   
 
The Los Angeles County Assessor first visited the property on October 3, 1932 and 
recorded a newly-constructed two-story residence with a concrete foundation, stucco 
walls, and a gabled tiled roof. Heat was provided by two fireplaces and a six-unit gas 
furnace.  There were thirteen plumbing fixtures.  Lighting fixtures were rated “special.” 
Plaster, Sanitas paper, and plain woodwork were the primary interior finishes.  The house 
had a total of seven hardwood floors.  Overall construction quality of the house was rated 
“special”—the highest category available on the Assessor’s form. 
 
The Assessor estimated the square footage at 4,411.  On the first floor were three living 
rooms (one was probably a dining room), one bedroom, one and two-thirds tiled 
bathrooms, a kitchen with tiled walls and a built-in electric refrigerator, and a breakfast 
room.   The upstairs contained three bedrooms, two dressing rooms, two tiled bathrooms 
(one with a walk-in shower).  There was also a basement that measured approximately 
nine by eleven feet.  The attached garage measured approximately 21 by 26 feet.  The 
property also contained 94 linear feet of brick walls and 79 linear feet of wire fencing.   
 
The Assessor returned on August 23, 1950 to note the presence of a Shephard “home lift” 
with an estimated value of $800.   
 
Around 1963, the Assessor recorded the completion of a 264-square-foot patio with a 
concrete floor, screened sides, and a corrugated aluminum roof.  
 
The Los Angeles County Assessor currently estimates the square footage of the house at 
4,243 with four bedrooms and four bathrooms.  Copies of the Assessor’s building records 
are attached on pages 45 through 49. 
 
 
THE WORLD AND COMMUNITY IN 1932 
 
The world and nation were not in a happy state during 1932.  The Japanese invaded 
China in January, setting up a puppet state in Manchuria.  Eamon De Valera assumed the 
position of prime minister in Ireland.  Antonio de Oliviera Salazar became prime minister 
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of Portugal and would rule as a Fascist dictator for the next 36 years.  Famine in the 
Soviet Union, caused largely by Stalin’s collectivization program, took two to six million 
lives. 
 
In March 1932, 20-month-old Charles A. Lindbergh, Jr., was kidnapped from his parents’ 
New Jersey home and was later found dead.  James J. Walker resigned as the Mayor of 
New York City, ending a corruption inquiry.   In November, Franklin Delano Roosevelt 
was elected president, defeating incumbent Herbert Hoover, as the nation began to reel 
under the effects of the Great Depression.  Earlier in the year, Hoover had ordered 
General Douglas MacArthur to use tanks and Army troops to violently disperse 5,000 
World War I veteran Bonus Marchers in Washington, DC.  Republican James Rolph, Jr., 
was Governor of California, but would later die in office during a pre-campaign tour. 
 
Los Angeles, now comprising 441.23 square miles, was the site of the very successful 
1932 Olympic Games, held in July.  The Coliseum had been enlarged to accommodate 
105,000 spectators.  The city’s citizens attempted to oust Mayor Porter from office, but 
he won a recall election in May.    
 
The year 1932 was rich in literature and the arts. Among the literary works published that 
year: Aldous Huxley’s Brave New World; Light in August by William Faulkner; Erskine 
Caldwell’s Tobacco Road; Dashiell Hammett’s mystery novel The Thin Man, which 
introduced Nick and Nora Charles; Mutiny on the Bounty by Charles Nordhoff and 
Norman Hall; and In This Our Life–Ellen Glasgow’s Pulitzer Prize-winning novel. 
In 1932, John Galsworthy received the Nobel Prize for Literature (he would die the 
following year) and classic American poet Hart Crane passed away.  Philip Johnson and 
Henry Russell Hitchcock published their seminal book The International Style that would 
help revolutionize architecture and interior design.  Hollywood was especially productive 
in 1932, perhaps to counter-act the financial gloom slowly settling over the land.  
Audiences flocked to enjoy such films as: I Am a Fugitive from a Chain Gang, starring 
Paul Muni; the classic, star-filled Grand Hotel, which won the Best Picture Oscar that 
year; Shanghai Express with Marlene Dietrich; Rouben Mamoulian’s Dr. Jekyll and Mr. 
Hyde with Fredric March; Dracula, with Bela Lugosi; Rain, starring Joan Crawford; A 
Farewell to Arms, with Gary Cooper and Helen Hayes; Red Dust, with Clark Gable and 
Jean Harlow; the Marx Brothers’ Horse Feathers; George Cukor’s A Bill of Divorcement 
with Katharine Hepburn and John Barrymore; and the latest Tarzan movie, starring 
Johnny Weissmuller.  In 1932, Broadway audiences enjoyed George S. Kaufman and 
Edna Ferber’s Dinner at Eight, Ben Hecht and Charles MacArthur’s Twentieth Century, 
and Cole Porter’s Gay Divorce, but they mourned the loss of Florenz Ziegfeld.  On radio, 
Jack Benny and Burns and Allen both began their wildly popular shows, and One Man’s 
Family began its 27-year run. Popular songs of the day included Brother, Can You Spare 
a Dime? popularized by Bing Crosby; Cole Porter’s Night and Day; and Isn’t It 
Romantic? by Rodgers and Hart.  American composer and band-master John Philip 
Sousa died in 1932.    
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NOTES 
 
The Los Angeles Times announced that Judge Hazard was building a “Spanish-type home 
of ten rooms on Wyton Drive” on May 1, 1932.  A copy of the larger article can be found 
on page 15.   
 
The house has been advertised for sale in the Times over the years.  On July 18, 1950 it 
was a “beautiful home” to be sold “to close an estate.”  The property was described as 
having “old world charm” on November 3, 1977.  On June 29, 1980 the ad called it a 
“most fabulous authentic Spanish hacienda.  From the hand-hewn beams to the random 
planked oak floors, this house has everything!  All public rooms open to arched galleria 
and inner courtyard with fountain.  Mahogany paneled library with wet bar and fireplace; 
huge living room with oversized fireplace; formal dining room; den with tiled fireplace; 
two charming bedrooms plus master upstairs; maid’s and bath down; wonderful kitchen 
with breakfast room. Move-in perfection.”  Copies of these ads are attached on page 31. 
 
The Hazard house was featured as the Times Home of the Week on October 13, 2013. 
Entitled “Style in a World of Details,” the article stated that “old world architectural 
details take center stage at this Spanish Colonial-style house in the Little Holmby area of 
Westwood.  Elaborate ironwork, carved and stenciled beams and colorful tile, as well as a 
Prohibition-era bar hidden behind panels, are among original features.”  A copy of this 
article can be found on page 32.  
 
 
THE SIGNIFICANCE OF THE PROPERTY 
 
The Judge Hazard house is potentially eligible for listing on a local inventory of 
significant properties due to its association with a known architect, its fine design, and its 
contribution to the architectural and historical context of the Little Holmby (Westwood 
Hills) neighborhood. 
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THE OWNERS 
 
In 1909, Josephine M. Griffith purchased the westerly two-thirds, more or less, of Lot 4 of Block 
15 of the Pasadena Highland Tract in an area of unincorporated Los Angeles County.  The 
original property ran 380 feet north along Mar Vista beginning at the northeast corner of 
Woodbury Road and just over 200 feet east-west.  Early in 1910, Mrs. Griffith commissioned 
local architect George J. Webster to design a winter home for her and her family in the then-
popular Craftsman style.  Henry McKeen of Pasadena was to be the contractor.  The reported 
cost was $6,630—a typical amount for a house of this size at the time.  Mrs. Griffith shared her 
new home with her husband Col. William M. Griffith and their teen-age son William, Jr.  Their 
property was given the address 1864 North Mar Vista Avenue.  (It did not receive its current 
address of 1824 until most of the properties in the neighborhood were re-numbered in 1941.)  
 
William Morton Griffith was born on October 31, 1859 in Racine, Wisconsin, but moved as a 
child to Utica, New York.  His father worked as a store clerk; his mother was born in Wales.  
After attending the public schools, William graduated from Hamilton College and began a career 
in journalism.  His first job was with The Utica Herald.  Later he became managing editor of the 
Utica Daily Press.  After gaining experience, Col. Griffith started his own news service from the 
state capital and gained a reputation for his reporting of political and legislative matters.  After 
transferring his news-gathering to Washington, DC, Col. Griffith was hired as private secretary 
by James S. Sherman who would become Vice-President under William Howard Taft.  He later 
accepted a job as secretary to the newly-elected Governor of New York, Frank S. Black.  The 
position brought with it status as a colonel of artillery on the governor’s military staff, through 
which he saw service in the Spanish-American War.  After his stint in politics and government, 
Col. Griffith went to New York City where he founded a banking and real estate trust business 
known as the Queen County Trust Company.  
 
Mrs. Griffith was born Josephine Maynard in Utica, New York on May 11, 1859.  Her parents 
were English, her father Thomas employed as a merchant.  Thomas had died by 1870 but 
Josephine continued to live in Utica with her widowed mother Georgiana until her own marriage 
to Col. Griffith in 1884.  Their son William Morrison Griffith was born on December 18, 1897 in 
Brazil, Indiana.  
 
Col. and Mrs. Griffith considered Altadena their winter home until 1921, when they moved there 
permanently.  Col. Griffith continued his interest in Republican politics and ran several local 
campaigns.  In 1929, he was the major investor and president of the Commercial Aircraft 
Corporation established by a group of Pasadena residents.  Both he and his wife were members 
of the Westminster Presbyterian Church where Col. Griffith served on the finance committee. 
Mrs. Griffith was remembered for her religious and charitable work.   
 
In 1913 Josephine Griffith purchased from Thomas M. Livingston a 60-foot-wide parcel along 
Mar Vista to extend the northerly boundary of her property.  According to the County Assessor, 
a small improvement had appeared on the property by 1917.  But in 1924, they commissioned 
the construction of what is now 1844 North Mar Vista  (then 1880 North Mar Vista), perhaps as 
a home for their son when he became an adult or as caretakers’/servants’ quarters or possibly just 
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as an investment. The architect is unknown, but the house bears a striking resemblance in 
stylistic features and materials to the Griffiths’ original home, so may also have been designed 
by George Webster.   
 
The Griffiths sold off a 125-by140.75-foot lot at the northeast corner of Woodbury and Mar 
Vista and a house was built on it in 1920.  However, by 1925 they had expanded their holdings 
and now owned both sides of the cul-de-sac that extended north from Woodbury on the east side 
of their home.  Most of these parcels, all with East Woodbury addresses, had already been 
developed:  1157 (1923), 1167 (1900), 1169 (1925), and 1175 (1925).   
 
Despite having a different middle name, the Griffiths’ son was known as William M., Jr.  He 
would become a vaudeville entertainer and a freelance stage and screen actor, sometimes billed 
as “Billy Griffith.”  He acted in small roles in many movies from the 1920s to the 1950s, 
including The Devil Bat, Whirlwind Horseman, A Famous Male Impersonator, The Great 
Ziegfeld, Time Out for Romance, Everybody Does It, and Devil Goddess.  During the 1930s he 
appeared in musical revues at the Pasadena Playhouse and in the 1950s had guest roles in such 
television series as The Life of Riley, Highway Patrol, Cheyenne, The Adventures of Rin Tin Tin, 
and The Adventures of Wild Bill Hickok.   
 
Josephine Griffith died on December 13, 1937 at the age of 78.  After becoming a widower, Col. 
Griffith moved to Pasadena where he passed away on January 21, 1945 at the age of 85.  An 
article on Col. Griffith from a 1926 issue of the Morning Sun and copies of their obituaries from 
the Pasadena Star-News are attached on pages 18 through 20. 
 
Title to his mother’s Mar Vista and Woodbury properties had been transferred to William M. 
Griffith, Jr.  By 1940, he had sold off the parcels on the east side of the cul-de-sac.  In November 
1941, he sold 1844 and 1824 Mar Vista as separate properties, severing the ownership tie that 
had existed since 1913.  The northerly 20 feet of the grounds of 1824 were added to the grounds 
of 1844 at that time, leaving 1824 with its current configuration along Mar Vista.   
 
The next owners of 1824 were Howell M. Watson, a commercial printer, and his wife Lena Mae 
Watson.  They shared the house with three of their children. Mr. Watson was a native of Texas, 
born in December 1889.  He grew up in San Antonio.  One of his first jobs was as a clerk for the 
Western Weighing Company, but by 1910 he was working as a printer in Greenfield.  Around 
1917, he married his wife, the former Lena Pruitt who had also been born in Texas in October 
1893.  They would have four children: Marvin C. (born 1920), Mildred (born 1922), Lloyd (born 
1924), and Donald (born 1927). By 1930, Mr. Watson had moved to Pasadena where he and his 
son Marvin were in business together as carpenters.  However, just two years later, Mr. Watson 
returned to the commercial printing field. He was later associated with The Mission Press, also 
known as Little Bibles, Inc.  
 
Mrs. Watson became sole owner of the property in November 1945.  She sold off the westerly 63 
feet in May 1947 and a new house was built on it that year with the address of 1165 East 
Woodbury.  Mr. Watson died in December 1967 at the age of 77.  Mrs. Watson survived him by 
many years, passing away in January 1988, having reached the age of 103. 
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Interestingly, William M. Griffith, Jr., retained ownership of what is now 1171 East Woodbury 
until 1960.  It contained a 1921 structure that probably had served as the garage on his parents’ 
estate.  “Billy” Griffith died of a heart attack at the Motion Picture Country House on July 21, 
1960 at the age of 62.  His short obituary from the Los Angeles Times is attached on page 21.  
 
Mary Anna Stanakis (1899-1982), the widow of Frank Stanakis, and her daughter Dorothy June 
Smith were recorded as co-owners of the property in July 1954.  Mrs. Stanakis, the daughter of 
German parents, was born in Wisconsin.  Her late husband, who was of Lithuanian descent, was 
born in Pennsylvania.  He worked as a hospital nurse in Leyden, Illinois before his death in 1934.  
They had two children, both born in Illinois: Francis R. (1921-1970) and Dorothy June (1925-
1987).  While living on Mar Vista, Mrs. Stanakis became well-known for her annual elaborate 
Christmas displays.   
 
In March 1971, Paul Clayton Smith, Jr., and his wife Shirley M. Smith became the owners.   
Mr. Smith, born around 1924 in Indiana, was an employee of Aero Supply. He married his wife, 
the former Shirley M. Nesbitt, who was twenty years his junior, in 1965. Mr. Smith was 
interested in politics.  In 1964, the people of Altadena and unincorporated Pasadena went to the 
polls to decide if the City of Altadena should be incorporated.  On the same ballot, Mr. Smith 
was a candidate for a potential city council position.  However, incorporation was rejected and 
Mr. Smith never served.  He died in 1979 at age 54.   
 
Title passed to Michael Gerard Culross, a nationally-known poet, and his wife Betty A. Culross 
in October 1976. Mr. Culross (1942-2010) received a B.A. from the University of Iowa and an 
M.A. from Syracuse University.  He taught creative writing at the University of Wisconsin at 
Green Bay and at Antioch College in West Los Angeles, gave many poetry readings nationwide, 
and contributed pieces to more than twenty magazines.  Two of his published poetry books were 
The Bushleaguers (1970) and The Lost Heroes (1974).  He was also a film-maker and a jazz 
music arranger.  He married the former Betty Ann Henderson, a singer and teacher, in 1965.  
They had six children: Kathy, Tom, Patti, Peter, Michael, Jr., and Melissa.  Michael, Jr., a 
teacher in the Pasadena schools and also a musician, was fairly prominent.  Michael and Betty 
Culross eventually parted company. Michael Culross, Sr., was living in San Carlos by 1996 and 
died in Washington State.  Betty Culross moved to Redding where she worked in the medical 
field.   
 
In August 1978, John Charles Kulli and Cynthia Virginia Cable took possession.  Dr. Kulli, born 
in 1942, grew up in Pasadena where he attended Polytechnic School.  He earned a degree from 
Harvard and an M.D. from the Keck School of Medicine at U.S.C.  After completing his 
residency at U.C.L.A., he became a practicing anesthesiologist.  He and a partner were granted 
patents for the development of a new type of syringe. Ms. Cable, born in 1944, was an artist.  
She and Dr. Kulli later moved to Rochester, New York.   
 
Mark Lynn Nelson and his wife Cathlynn Elisabeth Nelson were recorded as owners in January 
1984.  Cathlynn Nelson was a chiropractor.  She later moved to Englewood, Colorado and re-
married. 
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In August 1993, Charles Gregory Schultz, an attorney, and Julia E. Liss became the owners.  
Born in 1946, Mr. Schultz was a native of Minnesota.  He earned an undergraduate degree from 
the University of California, Berkeley and a law degree from the Hastings College of Law in San 
Francisco.  He was admitted to the California State Bar in 1990.  Ms. Liss was a professor of 
history at Scripps College and chair of its History Department.  She has published books in the 
field of cultural anthropology.  She earned her B.A. at Wesleyan University and a Ph.D. at the 
University of California, Berkeley.  She and Mr. Schultz moved to Claremont after selling their 
Mar Vista Avenue home. 
 
Richard Webster and his wife Kimberly Kenne have been the owners since July 1996. 
 
 
THE ARCHITECT 
 
George J. Webster was a fairly prolific Craftsman architect during a span of a little over ten years 
just before World War I.  Lack of details about his life before and after he entered the 
architectural field have made him somewhat of a “mystery man.” Although Altadena has claimed 
him as its “own” architect because some of his best work was done in that community (which he 
also called home for several years), his designs can be found throughout the Los Angeles area.   
 
George James Webster was born of British parents in Uruguay on April 28, 1868, but remained a 
citizen of the United Kingdom all his life.  Interestingly, the census indicates that Spanish was 
the primary language spoken in the home while he was a child.  Around 1898, he married the 
former Annie Macpherson Southerland (1872-1954), a native of Scotland. Mr. and Mrs. Webster 
were living in the Long Beach area by 1902. Los Angeles directories of 1903 showed him 
working as a draftsman for architect M. Paul Martin. The 1904 Pasadena directory listed him as a 
“rancher” residing in Altadena on the east side of Lincoln Avenue just south of Figueroa Drive. 
However, he and his wife seemed to move quite often within Pasadena and Altadena, sometimes 
living in houses of his own design. 
 
After setting up an architectural practice around 1905, Webster designed his first documented 
house for Mabel Farris of Pasadena which still stands at 619 South Los Robles Avenue.  For the 
rest of his career, he specialized in rustic bungalows, some quite modest in size, primarily in 
Altadena and Pasadena, but in the greater Los Angeles area as well.  The Builder and Contractor 
journal always identified Webster as a “building designer” rather than as an “architect” which 
probably  means he was never licensed as a professional by the State of California.  
Nevertheless, some of his designs were featured in magazines, such as the Ladies Home Journal 
and House Beautiful, and in bungalow design books.   
 
In late 1906, Webster temporarily gave up his practice and moved to Sonora, Mexico, but 
returned in mid-1907.  In 1908 he formed a brief partnership with Neal Dow Barker (1856-
1925), an Altadena resident and, like Webster, a native of England and a former employee of  
M. Paul Martin.  From their office in downtown Los Angeles, Barker and Webster designed 
around fifteen houses, the majority of them outside Pasadena.  Because Webster’s name was not 
listed separately in directories as an architect during this time, it had been thought that he may 
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have also worked for another firm during this period.  Some have speculated he was employed as 
a draftsman for the famed designing team of Charles and Henry Greene, but no documentation 
has been found for this. 
  
By mid-1909, Webster had resumed his solo career: many of the residences he began designing 
in that year were on a grander, more elaborate scale than those he had designed in the 1906-07 
period, although still very much in the Craftsman style.  By 1911 Mr. and Mrs. Webster had 
moved to Garfield Avenue–a block-long neighborhood straddling the Pasadena/Altadena border 
for which Webster designed many of the houses (see below).  By 1917, his directory listing had 
dropped the “architect” occupation, although he continued to live in Altadena.  In late 1919, he 
and his wife moved to Laguna Beach where he again identified himself as an architect.   
Mrs. Webster became a well-known amateur horticulturist in the area.   
   
Webster appears to have had an interest in photography as well as architecture.  Los Angeles 
directories of 1915 indicate he was serving as secretary and treasurer of the West Coast Art 
Company, photographers, in addition to his designing work.  He also had several poems 
published in local newspapers. 
 
George J. Webster died at the age of 76 on February 5, 1945 at a home in San Clemente to which 
he had moved just a month previously.  He was interred at the Mountain View Mausoleum in 
Altadena.  Webster was survived by his wife.  They evidently had no children. His brief obituary 
is attached on page 16. 
 
A selected list of Webster’s works in Pasadena and Altadena is appended below.  Many of them 
feature his trademark “Webster windows” which first appeared in 1905: a sash design featuring a 
row of three nearly square lights in the upper 20%, set over two long vertical lights arranged side 
by side.  Other architectural details associated with Webster include: knee braces with blended 
integral feet, board-on-board gable venting, cut-out porches, and beam-on-bracket eave supports.   
 
In Pasadena: 
 147 and 155 Millard (designed for himself)–1905 (demolished) 

Farris residence, 619 South Los Robles Avenue–1905 (Webster’s oldest extant house, 
designed in a transitional turn-of-the-century style, now altered with the addition 
of a second story.) 

 O’Reilly residence, 1682 North Fair Oaks Avenue–1906 (demolished) 
 Mountain View Land Company speculative houses, 855 Chapman and 1003 Glen–1906 
 Leavitt residence, 490 Maylin Street–1909 (altered) 
 Christie residence, 1230 North Marengo Avenue–1911 (altered) 
 Stone residence, 397 Summit Avenue–1911  
 Williams residence, 906 East Orange Grove Blvd.–1912 (demolished) 
 
In Altadena: 
 Lindsay residence, 416 East Altadena Drive–1905 

White residence, 382 Buena Loma Court–1906 (altered; interestingly, done for the sister-
in-law of Charles Greene) 
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 J. S. Paul residence, 1163 Rubio Street–1909 
 P. J. McNally residences, 357 East Altadena Drive–1905 and  
  323 East Altadena Drive–1909 
 Clarence Valentine residence, 600 Alameda Street–1910 
 Jane Griffith residences, 945 New York Drive–1910 and 938 and  
  958 Morada Place–1911  

Welles residence (known as “Rosewall”), 180 East Mendocino Street–1911 (Webster’s 
most costly commission) 

 Whiting residence, 1158 New York Drive–1912 
Walter Valentine residences, 2800 Holliston Avenue and 1419 East Palm Street–

both1912 (including entrance portals at the northeast corner of Holliston and 
Palm–also 1912) 

 
Along North Garfield below Woodbury Road at the Altadena/Pasadena border, Webster 
designed at least nine Craftsman residences over a seven-year period.  Eight of these dwellings 
are still standing, several of which Mr. and Mrs. Webster lived in.  Those that have been either 
fully documented or strongly attributed to him are: 2053/55 (1911); 2056 (1911); 2073 (1914–
altered; probably the last house he designed in the Pasadena area); 2080 (1909); 2085 (1909); 
2101 (1917–moved from North Wilson Avenue in Pasadena); 2108 (1913); 2121 (1911); and 
2151 (demolished).    
 
Webster was the owner/developer of 2053/55, 2056, 2101, and 2121. He lived at 2056 from 1911 
to 1913 and again in 1916; at 2121 from 1913 to 1915 and again in 1917; and at 2101 in 1918 
and 1919.     
 
Note: Much of this report was based on the research of John G. Ripley. 
 
 
THE BUILDER 
 
Henry McKeen was born Mathew Henry McKeen (he preferred the use of his middle name) in 
Mabou, Inverness County, Nova Scotia, Canada on September 1, 1864.   He moved to Pasadena 
in 1895 and began advertising his services as a carpenter.  By 1915, he had “promoted” himself 
to building contractor.  However, in his later years, he again identified himself as a carpenter.  
His first residence was at 666 North Raymond Avenue.  He later moved to 171 South Oakland 
Avenue.  By 1915, he was living with his wife Louise F. McKeen and their two daughters Grace 
and Edith at 275 Center Street (now known as East Del Mar Blvd.).  McKeen probably 
constructed all the houses he lived in.   
 
Having built at least 37 single-family homes in Pasadena during the Craftsman era (1904-1918), 
McKeen developed a reputation as an authority on design, materials, and construction.  His 
houses were recognized for their “signature detailing.”  He is credited with designing most of his 
early houses himself.  Later in his career, that lasted well into his older years, McKeen served as 
builder for a number of well-known architects such as Charles W. Buchanan, Lester S. Moore, 
Frederick L. Roehrig, Harold Bissner, and Sylvanus Marston.    
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McKeen died on March 28, 1958, having reached the age of 93.  His short obituary from the 
Pasadena Star-News is attached on page 17. 
 
Some of the still-extant houses that McKeen is credited with having designed and built: 
 
465 North El Molino Avenue (1907) 
1545 North Los Robles Avenue (1908) 
700 South Los Robles Avenue (1909) 
651, 694, and 726 South Oakland Avenue (all 1909) 
951 North Hudson Avenue (1909) 
1029 North Garfield Avenue (1909) 
797 and 831 North Mentor Avenue (both 1909) 
1074 North Los Robles (1910) 
397 and 1875 Summit Avenue (both 1911) 
1029 North Raymond Avenue (1911) 
764 and 810 North Chester Avenue (both 1911) 
1211 North Los Robles Avenue (1911) 
1071 North Marengo Avenue (1911) 
1090 North Marengo Avenue (1914) 
753 North Garfield Avenue (1914) 
1095 North Marengo Avenue (1915) 
 
 
THE ARCHITECTURAL STYLE 
 
The popularity of the bungalow coincided with the rise of the Arts and Crafts movement in the 
United States.  Gustav Stickley has been credited with the wide popularity of the Arts and Crafts 
movement in America.  Seen as rebels against both the complicated style of the Victorian age 
and impersonal products of the new machine age, Craftsman proponents created a new 
appreciation for hand craftsmanship.  Stickley's Craftsman magazine, published from 1901 to 
1916, brought his ideals and the theory of a new style of architecture to the nation.  Craftsman 
Homes, a bungalow design book published by Stickley, allowed inexperienced owners and small 
contractors to build bungalows which were inexpensive and simple in design and construction, 
yet comfortable and in tune with their natural surroundings. 
 
But the chief "brick and mortar" inspiration for the Craftsman style came from two brothers 
living in Pasadena--Charles Sumner Greene and Henry Mather Greene who practiced between 
1893 and 1914.  About 1903 they began to design simple Craftsman-type bungalows; by 1909 
they had designed and executed several exceptional landmark examples that have been called the 
"ultimate bungalows."  The two most well-known of these in Pasadena are the Gamble House at 
4 Westmoreland Place and the Blacker House at 1177 Hillcrest Avenue, for both of which the 
Greenes created a total "look," including furniture, fabrics, and landscaping.  Several influences--
the English Arts and Crafts movement, an interest in oriental wooden architecture, an 
appreciation of the Swiss chalet tradition, and their early training in the manual arts--appear to 
have led the Greenes to design and construct these intricately detailed buildings.   
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These and similar residences were given extensive publicity in such magazines as the Western 
Architect, The Architect, House Beautiful, Good Housekeeping, Architectural Record, Country 
Life in America, and Ladies' Home Journal, thus familiarizing the rest of the nation with their 
style.  As a result, a flood of pattern books appeared, offering plans for Craftsman bungalows; 
some even offered completely pre-cut packages of lumber and detailing to be assembled by local 
labor.  Through these vehicles, the one-story Craftsman house quickly became the most popular 
and fashionable smaller house in the country.  (Architectural historians David Gebhard and 
Robert Winter have characterized this architecture as the closest thing to a democratic art that 
has ever been produced.)  High-style interpretations are rare except in California, where they 
have been called the Western Stick style.  One-story vernacular examples are often called simply 
"California bungalows."    
 
As early as 1904, Pasadena and the newer neighborhoods of Los Angeles were widely known for 
their Craftsman homes which differed from their Eastern and Midwestern counterparts.  It is no 
surprise that those living near the arroyos and foothills favored the Craftsman style which fit so 
superbly in such picturesque, rustic settings.  The defining elements of the style were the use, 
and in fact the glorification, of natural materials; a horizontal orientation; low-pitched gable 
roofs; wood detailing, including dark stained heavy beams and timbers, sometimes attached 
together by metal banding; exposed rafters; wide roof overhangs with unenclosed eaves, 
supported by brackets; wide porches; horizontal bands of casement windows (often with Tiffany-
type stained glass accents in the more costly homes); massive brick, block, or stone foundations, 
porch supports, and walls; and visible guttering and drainage systems that were often 
incorporated into the design by means of metal bracketing.  Interior built-in features such as 
bookcases and dining-room buffets were popular.  Lighting fixtures were often copper with 
tinted glass.  A few Craftsman architects also incorporated elements from other popular styles, 
such as Eastern Shingle and English Tudor or skewed the architectural elements into a Japanese 
or Swiss look.  Although the emphasis was on simplicity of design, a break from the ornamented 
cluttered style of the Victorian period, some of the larger architectural creations were 
"bungalows" in name only. 
 
The popularity of Craftsman homes for the wealthy ended rather suddenly around 1912, but the 
middle class continued to build in the style through World War I.  The war drastically slowed 
down building and development in general in the Los Angeles area.  For example, in Pasadena 
before 1917, houses were being built at a rate of approximately 500 per year, dropping to about 
140 in 1917 and 40 in 1918.  After the war, some modest Craftsman homes were built in working 
class neighborhoods through the early 1920s.  Materials changed after the war, giving the 
Craftsman homes of this period a different look.  The size of timber had changed from 2 x 4" to 
1 1/2 x 3 1/2" and formerly rough wood surfaces had given way to smooth surfaces.  As a result, 
late Craftsman homes were stylistically more restrained and refined and the characteristic 
elements were on a reduced scale. 
 
A number of reasons have been offered as to why the popularity of Craftsman architecture ended 
so quickly after World War I.  Probably all are valid in their own way.  Soldiers returning from 
the horrors of trench warfare were ready to start new lives in new surroundings, while the 
Craftsman philosophy of the perfectibility of mankind through arts and crafts probably rang 
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hollow in a new age of cynicism after the war.  Stickley’s studio and the Craftsman magazine 
had gone bankrupt during the 1910s, the concept of individually hand-crafted homes giving away 
to the more manufactured look of Craftsman tracts, often mass-produced or based on 
commercially available bungalow kits and floorplans.  The growing popularity of motion 
pictures may also have played a part in turning homeowners’ fascination to more exotic settings, 
paving the way for the almost all-consuming interest in period revival architecture that was to 
follow in the 1920s. 
 
The Griffith house is a good example of the Craftsman style with its combed-shingle wall 
covering, cut-in porch, rolled roof with copper gutters, deep eaves, prominent “outrigger” beam 
ends (a design motif which shows up again at the ends of the upper window casings, board-on-
board venting, and three-over-two windows--some arranged in bands. 
 
 
THE HOUSE AND PROPERTY IN THE PUBLIC RECORD 
 
There is no original building permit on file for this property.  Los Angeles County did not begin 
issuing permits for its unincorporated areas until 1927.   
 
The earliest permit on file at the County’s Building Division was dated April 25, 1952 and called 
for a connection of the property to the public sewer. 
 
A new electrical service panel was to be installed in April 1979. 
 
A permit was issued on May 10, 1983 for a re-shingling of the exterior walls and the remodeling 
of an upstairs porch.  The owner identified himself as both designer and contractor. The cost was 
estimated at $6,000.   
 
A permit was issued on August 24, 1993 for a seismic retrofit to anchor the house to its 
foundation.  Cal-Seismic of Pasadena was the contractor for this job, valued at $5,500. 
 
On February 7, 1994, permission was given to remodel the kitchen, a laundry area, a breakfast 
room, and a half-bathroom.  Michelle Lanane of El Segundo was the architect. The owner was to 
act as his own contractor.  The cost was estimated at $30,000. 
 
The demolition of the old garage and the construction of a new 552-square-foot detached garage 
were permitted on October 20, 1997.  James E. Sullivan of La Cañada was the architect and 
Randy Gulick Building and Remodeling of West Covina was the contractor.  The cost was to be 
$13,800.   
 
A new HVAC system was to be installed in July 2000.   
 
On April 17, 2001 approval was given to build a pergola and to do restoration work on the lower 
roof and porch at a cost of $35,000.  Tim Andersen of Seattle, Washington was the architect and  
 



11 
 
Thomas Lake Builder, Inc., of Pasadena was the contractor.  A total of 929 square feet were to be 
involved.   
 
The house was to be re-roofed in July 2004 for $13,000.   
 
Copies of some of these permits can be found on pages 31 through 37. 
 
(Note: Permits for very minor alterations, such as water heater replacement, are not included.  
Also not included are permits missing from the file or whose microfilmed or digital copies are 
indecipherable and not otherwise recorded or described in Assessor’s records.)   
 
The Los Angeles County Assessor first visited the property on February 28, 1917 and recorded a 
two-story residence with a cobblestone foundation, walls covered in shakes, and a composition 
roof with four gables.  Heat was provided by two fireplaces and a gas furnace with eleven 
openings.  There were fourteen plumbing fixtures connected to a cesspool.  Lighting fixtures 
were rated of “good” quality.  The house had a total of nine hardwood floors.   
 
The Assessor estimated the square footage at 4,412.  On the first floor were five living rooms 
(one was probably a dining room), one bedroom, one bathroom, and a kitchen.  The second floor 
contained hallways, four bedrooms, and a sleeping porch.  There was also a cement-lined 
basement that was twelve by eighteen feet and six feet deep.  The garage, measuring 16 by 22 
feet, had a cement floor, walls covered in shakes, and a composition roof. 
 
In 1969, the Assessor noted a 186-square-foot one-story addition to the southwest corner of the 
house. 
 
In 1998, the Assessor added to the building record a new 26-by-30-foot garage.  It had a 
concrete-slab floor, wood exterior, a roof covered in shakes, an overhead door, and an unfinished 
interior.   
 
The Los Angeles County Assessor currently estimates the square footage of the house at 4,082 
with five bedrooms and two bathrooms.  Copies of the Assessor’s building records are attached 
on pages 38 through 41. 
 
 
THE WORLD AND COMMUNITY IN 1910 
 
The Western world was still basking in the glow of the Edwardian era, unaware it was soon to 
come to an end in the trenches of World War I. There was at least one major disturbance in 
1910–the beginning of the Mexican Revolution and civil war which was to last for a decade and 
claim an estimated one million lives.   Also on the international scene, the Union of South Africa 
was formed.  General H. Curtis won the $10,000 New York World prize for the first continuous 
flight from Albany to New York City–137 miles in 152 minutes.  The Boy Scouts of America 
was also formed in 1910.  In science, Thomas Hunt Morgan discovered a link between genes and 
heredity.  
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In 1910, the population of the state of California reached over 2.3 million. Republican James N. 
Gillett remained Governor, although his term was to come to an end the following January, as 
Republican Progressives swept the state elections.  Making news around the country on  
October 1 was the bombing of the Los Angeles Times building which killed 21 people.  Labor 
leaders J. B. and J. J. McNamara were later convicted of this sabotage but avoided the death 
penalty thanks to their defense by Clarence Darrow.     
 
By this time, the City of Pasadena was 24 years old and had become known throughout the 
country as a destination resort, offering fine hotels and shops to wealthy visitors from the East 
and Midwest.  Many of these visitors would stay to establish winter or year-round homes.  In 
1910, Pasadena opened the first Hill Avenue Branch Library, then called the “East Pasadena 
Branch” on East Colorado Street.  Also to open that year was the city’s first privately owned 
emergency hospital.  Caltech, then still known as Throop Polytechnic Institute, moved to its 
current campus in 1910.  Both the Pasadena Nazarene College and the Andrew Jackson 
Elementary School opened that year.   Famed artisan Ernest Batchelder organized the Batchelder 
Tile Company in 1910, and Arnold’s Jewelry store (still in existence) opened on Colorado Street. 
Ahead of its time, the Pasadena Day Nursery opened at 318 East Colorado for children between 
the ages of two and twelve of working mothers.    
 
In 1910, Altadena was a rural, unincorporated retreat for retired Easterners and for businessmen 
who worked in the bustling cities of Pasadena and Los Angeles--easily reachable by the street 
cars that ran directly down Lake and Fair Oaks Avenues.  Small orchards, poultry farms, and 
vineyards dominated the west end of town, while open ranchlands still occupied the eastern side.  
(The Porter Ranch, just east of Lake Avenue would not be subdivided until 1912, prompted by 
the creation of the Altadena Golf Course the year before.)  The rustic surroundings of Altadena 
attracted a number of artists and writers.  The foothills of the San Gabriels were largely 
undeveloped, beckoning outdoorsmen as the "great age of hiking" dawned.  The Mt. Lowe 
Railway was also a very popular attraction in the local mountains.  Although several small 
Craftsman-style neighborhoods came into being in Altadena during the first two decades of the 
century, development did not start to boom until the 1920s with the creation of the Altadena 
Country Club Park subdivision--a prestigious large-lot development across Allen Avenue from 
the golf course.  Boosters of the time described Altadena as "the paradise of the foothills". For 
more information on Altadena and its history, consult the book Altadena: Between Wilderness 
and City by Michele Zack, published by the Altadena Historical Society in 2004. 
 
Among the major literary works written in1910 were Howards End by E. M. Forster and The 
Love Song of J. Alfred Prufrock--T. S. Eliot’s seminal poem that did not see publication until 
1915.  A number of famous authors died in 1910; among them: Mark Twain, William James, 
Julia Ward Howe, O. Henry, and Leo Tolstoy.  Artists Pablo Picasso, Marcel Duchamp, Marc 
Chagall, Edvard Munch, and Henri Matisse were all active in 1910.  American artist Winslow 
Homer died in that year.  Krazy Kat, the comic strip created by George Herriman, debuted in 
1910, as did Victor Herbert’s operetta Naughty Marietta; the theatrical version of Rebecca of 
Sunnybrook Farm; Eddie Foy and his Seven Little Foys; Giacomo Puccini’s opera The Girl of 
the Golden West; and Shelton Brooks’ song Some of These Days, which would become the 
signature song of Sophie Tucker.    
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NOTES 
 
In December 1910, the Southwest Builder and Contractor, a weekly journal of the construction 
trade, announced that a contract had been recorded for the construction of the Griffith house.  It 
was described as a “two-story, ten-room frame and plaster residence.”  A copy of the 
announcement is attached on page 15. 
 
The Griffith house has been featured on a number of home tours.  Scripts from Altadena 
Heritage, Guiding Eyes, Historic Highlands, and Pasadena Heritage are attached on pages 22 
through 30.  These scripts give a good summary of the work recent owners have done to restore 
both the exterior and interior of the house. 
 
 
THE SIGNIFICANCE OF THE PROPERTY 
 
In its historical and architectural resources survey of Altadena and the adjacent unincorporated 
areas conducted in the early 1990s, Altadena Heritage determined that the Griffith house was 
potentially eligible for listing on a local inventory of significant sites due to its association with a 
noted local architect, its good state of preservation, and its contribution to the architectural and 
historical context of the North Mar Vista Avenue neighborhood. It may also be eligible for 
listing on the California Register of Historical Resources and the National Register of Historic 
Places.   
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Guiding Eyes Tour, ca. 1990 
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Pasadena Historic Highlands Home Tour, 2002 
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